I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Expert Janitorial, LLC ("Expert") seeks review of the 

Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this petition. 

This case raises important questions regarding when businesses in 

this State can be required to pay the wages of a subcontractor's employees 

on the theory that they are "joint employers" under the Washington 

Minimum Wage Act ("MWA"), RCW 49.46. As the Court of Appeals 

noted, this is an issue of first impression under Washington law. App. 1. 

The Court of Appeals purported to follow this Court's decision in 

Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., 17 4 Wn.2d 851 (20 12), 

by adopting the "economic reality" test federal courts have developed for 

joint employment claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"). 

But contrary to Anfinson, the Court of Appeals interpreted key factors 

from that test in ways that are inconsistent with federal case law, and 

created other factors no federal court has recognized. Further diverging 

from federal law, the Court of Appeals also held that disputes as to only 

"some" of the factors-which will exist in virtually every case-are 

enough to defeat summary judgment, even ifthe factors as a whole weigh 

against joint employment. Finally, the Court of Appeals failed to say 

which of the various versions of the federal economic reality test should 

be applied to MW A claims. 
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The result is a decision that confuses rather than clarifies the 

relevant legal standard; provides inadequate guidance to Washington 

courts that will have to decide future joint employment cases; creates 

substantial uncertainty for the many businesses that outsource or 

subcontract work in this State; and calls into question commonplace and 

perfectly legitimate subcontracting relationships. 

For these reasons, this Court should grant review under RAP 

13 .4(b )(1) and ( 4 ). 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Expert seeks review of the published decision filed by Division 

One on September 16, 2013, reversing the trial court's order granting 

summary judgment for Expert and remanding the case for further 

proceedings. A copy ofthe decision is in the Appendix. App. 1-39. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err by interpreting and applying 

the joint employment test in ways that are inconsistent with federal law, 

contrary to this Court's decision in Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package 

System, Inc., which holds that where, as here, the MW A and FLSA are 

functionally identical, the MW A "carries the same construction as the 

federal law and the same interpretation as federal case law"? 174 Wn.2d 

at 868. 
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2. Did the Court of Appeals err by refusing to weigh all of the 

relevant joint employment factors as a whole, contrary to federal case law 

and thus this Court's decision in Anfinson, and instead holding that a 

dispute as to only some of the factors precludes summary judgment, 

regardless of whether the other factors weigh against joint employment? 

3. Should this Court grant review to determine which version 

of the federal joint employment test applies under the MW A-which the 

Court of Appeals failed to decide-to give guidance to Washington courts, 

avoid inconsistent rulings in other cases, and provide a measure of 

predictability to businesses that subcontract work in this State? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background. 

Expert is a management company that provides outsourced facility 

maintenance services, including floor care and janitorial services, to retail 

and grocery store customers. CP 45. It typically subcontracts with local, 

independent janitorial companies, called Service Providers ("SPs"), which 

provide, manage, and supervise the workers who clean the customers' 

stores. /d. 

Since 2007, Expert has had a contract with Fred Meyer Stores, Inc. 

("Fred Meyer") to provide janitorial services to Fred Meyer stores in 

Western Washington. CP 46, 94-95. From 2007 to 2010, one ofthe SPs 

3 
DWT 2269555!v8 0092056-000005 



Expert subcontracted with to provide those services was All Janitorial, 

LLC ("AJ"). CP 71, 94-95. AJ also had contracts with other management 

companies besides Expert, and cleaned stores for other customers besides 

Fred Meyer. CP 95. 

AJ hired all of the janitors, including Plaintiffs, who worked on its 

subcontract to clean Fred Meyer stores. CP 95, 104. AJ trained its 

janitors and assigned them to work in specific stores. CP 95, 104, 119-20, 

139-40, 142, 171. AJ set the janitors' pay rates, paid them, and 

maintained all of their personnel and pay records. CP 95-96, 104. Expert 

was not involved in any of these things, and did not provide AJ's janitors 

with any ofthe equipment or supplies for cleaning the stores. CP 71-72, 

95, 104. No one at Expert ever told anyone at AJ how to supervise AJ's 

janitors. CP 70-71, 104-05. 

Plaintiffs worked for AJ for varying lengths oftime cleaning Fred 

Meyer stores. CP 1-2. They admit that AJ-not Expert-hired, fired, and 

trained them; assigned them to particular stores; scheduled their work days 

and hours; set their pay; and issued their paychecks. CP 119-22, 142-46, 

158, 160, 171, 173-75. They also admit that no one from Expert ever 

directed their work or told them what to do. CP 126, 147-48, 163-64, 176-

77. In fact, there is no evidence that Plaintiffs ever met or spoke with 

anyone from Expert. CP 124-25, 127, 147-48, 163, 176, 200-06. 
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B. Procedural History. 

Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit against AJ in March 2010, claiming that 

AJ failed to pay them minimum wage and overtime. CP 3-5, 11. They 

also named Expert and Fred Meyer as additional defendants on the theory 

that they were Plaintiffs' "joint employers" under the MW A. CP 7, 10. 

After extensive discovery, Expert moved for summary judgment. 

The parties agreed in their briefing that the trial court should apply the 

"economic reality" test the federal courts have developed for determining 

whether an entity is a joint employer. CP 1989-91, 2025-26. Thus, both 

parties argued that Expert was or was not a joint employer based on the 

four so-called "Bonnette factors" in Bonnette v. California Health and 

Welfare Agency, 704 F.2d 1465, 1469-70 (9th Cir. 1983), plus the eight 

"non-regulatory" factors from Torres-Lopez v. May, 111 F.3d 633, 640 

(9th Cir. 1997). See CP 1990-99, 2025-33; RP (5/13/11) at 5-12,40-46. 

The trial court granted summary judgment for Expert, holding that 

Expert was not Plaintiffs' joint employer. CP 2262-65. While the trial 

court's short written ruling specifically mentioned only the four Bonnette 

factors, it did not say that only those factors were considered. CP 2263. 

On the contrary, the order stated it was applying "the test set forth in 

Bonnette" at page 1469-which holds that joint employment "does not 

depend on isolated factors but rather upon the circumstances of the whole 
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activity." CP 2263; Bonnette, 704 F.2d at 1469. The order also stated that 

the trial court considered all of the parties' briefing and declarations, 

which argued both the Bonnette factors and the non-regulatory factors. CP 

2262-63; see CP 1990-99, 2025-33. As the trial court later orally 

explained, 1 it simply "focused more" and "rel[ied] more on the Bonnette 

factors than on the Torres-Lopez factors"-which can only mean it 

considered the non-regulatory factors, too. RP (9/2/11) at 36-37. 

The trial court also granted summary judgment for Fred Meyer, 

concluding that it was not Plaintiffs' joint employer either. CP 2266-69. 

The Court of Appeals reversed both summary judgment orders. It 

agreed that the federal economic reality test applied to joint employment 

claims under the MW A. App. 1-2, 5. But it held that the trial court erred 

by supposedly limiting its analysis to only the Bonnette factors. App. 16-

17. It further held that there were disputed issues of fact regarding some 

factors, and that this was enough to make summary judgment improper. 

App. 2, 21-22, 29-30. The Court of Appeals discussed the different 

versions of the federal test, but stopped short of adopting any particular 

version. App. 1 0-16, 21. Instead, it remanded the case with instructions 

for the trial court to "consider what factors are appropriate" for 

determining whether a joint employment relationship exists. App. 21. 

1 See Wallace Real Estate Investment, Inc. v. Groves, 72 Wn. App. 759, 770 (1994) (trial 
court's oral decision may be used to interpret its written ruling when they are consistent). 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. Contrary to This Court's Decision in Anfinson, the 
Court of Appeals' Decision Fails to Follow Federal Case 
Law in Applying the Economic Reality Test. 

In Anfinson, this Court held that where the MW A is functionally 

identical to the FLSA, it should carry "the same construction as the federal 

law and the same interpretation as federal case law." 174 Wn.2d at 868. 

Because the MW A defines "employee" the same way the FLSA does, the 

Court adopted the federal economic reality test for distinguishing 

employees from independent contractors. !d. at 871. 

The MWA and FLSA also define "employer" the same way. 

Compare RCW 49.46.010(4) with 29 U.S.C. 203(d). Accordingly, under 

Anfinson, Washington courts should apply the economic reality test the 

federal courts have developed for joint employment cases. The Court of 

Appeals purported to do that here. App. 5-10. But contrary to Anfinson, 

its decision interprets and applies the test in a number of ways that are 

inconsistent with any version of the test used by the federal courts. This 

Court should therefore grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

1. The Court of Appeals Erred in Finding Disputed 
Issues as to Whether Expert Had the Power to 
Fire Plaintiffs or Modify Their Conditions of 
Employment. 

The first Bonnette factor is whether the defendant "had the power 

to hire and fire" employees. Bonnette, 704 F.2d at 1470. It is undisputed 
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that AJ hired all of its employees, including Plaintiffs, and that Expert had 

no involvement in hiring decisions. CP 71-72, 95, 104, 136-37, 155, 171. 

It is also undisputed that it was AJ, not Expert, which fired any of AJ's 

janitors. CP 122, 140, 145-46, 160, 174-75. The Court of Appeals 

nevertheless found there was a disputed issue as to whether Expert had the 

"indirect" power to fire SPs' employees, because when Fred Meyer would 

catch a janitor stealing, it would ask that the janitor no longer work in its 

stores, and Expert would communicate this request to the SP. App. 30-33. 

This does not come close to making Expert (or Fred Meyer) a joint 

employer. There is no evidence that Expert ever told an SP to fire a 

janitor; it would only say that the janitor could no longer work on the Fred 

Meyer contract. CP 71, 95-96, 104-05. The SP was free to move the 

janitor to work on other contracts it had with other customers. CP 71, 95-

96, 650-55, 663-64. Thus, AJ testified without contradiction that it would 

transfer janitors to one of its other contracts-not fire them-if it thought 

their removal from Fred Meyer stores was unfair. CP 95-96, 670-71. The 

Court of Appeals ignored this testimony. 

It also ignored federal case law on this issue, which consistently 

holds that the type of request made by Fred Meyer and communicated by 

Expert does not amount to even indirect power to fire. See, e.g., Jacobson 

v. Comcast, 740 F. Supp. 2d 683, 689-90 (D. Md. 2010) (defendant's 
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ability to de-authorize technicians from working on the contract did not 

make defendant a joint employer); Godlewska v. HDA, 916 F. Supp. 2d 

246, 258 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (defendant's directions that employer remove 

home attendants from patients' cases did not amount to power to fire, 

where there was "no evidence that [defendant] has power, let alone ever 

exercised power, to require [the employer] to fire a home attendant 

entirely"); Jean-Louise v. Time Warner, 838 F. Supp. 2d 111, 124-25 

(S.D.N.Y. 2011) (defendant's emails to subcontractor about "what actions 

would be taken regarding a poorly performing technician" did not 

establish power to fire, where there was no evidence defendant "ever 

asked, let alone demanded, that [the subcontractor] actually fire any 

technicians"). 

There is simply no basis under federal case law for imposing joint 

employer liability based on Fred Meyer's reasonable request to exclude 

from its premises people who have been caught stealing. The Court of 

Appeals' misinterpretation of the "hiring and firing" factor was error. 

Similarly, the Court of Appeals' decision repeatedly resorts to very 

broad language about Expert and Fred Meyer's alleged ability to indirectly 

affect Plaintiffs' "employment conditions" or "employment situation." 

See App. 21-24, 27-28,32-33. The power to modify a worker's conditions 

of employment is indeed a factor considered by the federal courts. See 
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Bonnette, 704 F .2d at 14 70 (describing factor as whether defendant 

"supervised or controlled employee work schedules or conditions of 

employment"); Torres-Lopez, 111 F.3d at 640 (describing factor as the 

"right, directly or indirectly, to hire, fire, or modify the employment 

conditions of the workers"). But the courts have also stressed the 

important difference between "affecting" and "supervising or controlling." 

Jean-Louis, 838 F. Supp. 2d at 126. 

Thus, the putative joint employer must go beyond merely affecting 

employment conditions in some way; it must exercise control over the 

work schedule or the day-to-day manner in which employees provide the 

service. See Moreau v. Air France, 356 F.3d 942, 950 n.5 (9th Cir. 2004) 

(fact that defendant's flight schedules affected when technicians serviced 

aircraft did not amount to control over working conditions); Grenawalt v. 

AT&T Mobility, Inc.,--- F. Supp. 2d ---, 2013 WL 1311165, at* 11 

(S.D.N.Y. 2013) (fact that defendant might ask a security guard to take a 

short lunch or delay a break until the store was less busy did not amount to 

"control over the employee's day-to-day conditions of employment"); 

Godlewska, 916 F. Supp. 2d at 260-61 (defendants did not have control 

over working conditions where they did not manage plaintiffs on a day-to

day basis, train them, evaluate their job performance, handle their 

disciplinary issues, or accept their complaints). 
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There is no evidence that Expert had any such control here. The 

Court of Appeals has interpreted the "conditions of employment" factor so 

broadly it will always favor joint employment, because any business that 

subcontracts work has at least some ability to affect a subcontractor's 

employee's "employment situation." This was also error. 

2. The Court of Appeals Created New Factors That 
Are Not Part of the Economic Reality Test. 

The Court of Appeals also adopted at least two new "factors" that 

have not been recognized by the federal courts, creating more 

inconsistencies between its version of the economic reality test and any of 

the federal versions. 

First, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court should 

consider, as an additional factor, whether the subcontracting was a 

"subterfuge or sham" to avoid wage and hour obligations. App. 24-25; see 

also App. 34. While some federal decisions contain similar language, they 

use it when discussing the purpose behind other specific factors in their 

multi-part tests, not as a separate, stand-alone factor. See, e.g., Jean-

Louise, 838 F. Supp. 2d at 124-25 (discussing use ofthe Second Circuit's 

third factor-whether workers perform a discrete line job-to determine 

whether subcontracting was "a mere subterfuge to avoid complying with 

labor laws"). In other words, the Court of Appeals has mistaken one of 
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the purposes of the economic reality test-to uncover sham subcontracting 

arrangements-as a factor in and of itself. See Grenawalt, 2013 WL 

1311165, at * 8 ("The goal of the economic reality test, and of this court 

considering a finding of joint employment, is expos[ing] outsourcing 

relationships that lack a substantial economic purpose"). 

Second, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court can consider 

Fred Meyer's "potential knowledge" of Plaintiffs' overtime work as a 

factor in favor of joint employment. App. 25. But knowledge of whether 

the direct employer is paying its employees properly is not one of the 

factors considered by the federal courts. It becomes relevant only after a 

court rules that an entity is an employer, to determine whether that 

employer has "suffered or permitted" an employee to do the work. See, 

e.g., Lindow v. United States, 738 F.2d 1057, 1060-61 (9th Cir. 1984) ("an 

employer who knows or should have known that an employee is or was 

working overtime" is obligated to pay overtime) (emphasis added); 

Quinteros v. Sparkle Cleaning, Inc., 532 F. Supp. 2d 762, 775-76 (S.D. 

Md. 2008) (Regal Cinemas was not a joint employer "even ifRegal did 

know how many hours Plaintiffs worked," because Regal did not meet the 

joint employment factors). 

The Court of Appeals' direction to consider knowledge before a 

defendant is determined to be an employer-and indeed, as part of that 
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determination-puts the cart before the horse, which conflicts with federal 

law and thus with this Court's decision in Anfinson. 

B. The Court of Appeals' Refusal to Weigh All Relevant 
Factors Conflicts With Federal Law and Effectively 
Rules Out Summary Judgment in Joint Employment 
Cases. 

Whether an entity is a joint employer is a question of law. Torres-

Lopez, 111 F.3d at 638. But the Court of Appeals' decision makes it 

practically impossible for anyone ever to obtain summary judgment on 

this issue. It holds that because "there are genuine issues of fact regarding 

the existence and degree of some of the relevant factors" pertaining to 

Plaintiffs' relationship with Expert and Fred Meyer, summary judgment 

was inappropriate. App. 2 (emphasis added). By holding that a dispute as 

to "some"-and implicitly any-of the factors precludes summary 

judgment, the decision rules out summary judgment in virtually all joint 

employment cases. This is contrary to both federal and Washington law. 

Almost every joint employment case will have at least some 

factors favoring a finding of joint employment, and other factors 

disfavoring it. Because the economic reality test "requires the balancing 

of multiple factors," the federal courts have made clear that "summary 

judgment may still be appropriate even if not all of the factors favor" one 

side. Enterprise Rent-A-Car Wage & Hour Employment Practice 
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Litigation, 683 F.3d 462,471 (3d Cir. 2012). Similarly, Washington 

courts hold that multi-factor tests can be resolved on summary judgment 

based on the overall balance of factors. See, e.g., Stewart v. Estate of 

Steiner, 122 Wn. App. 258,274-75 (2004) (holding that "examination and 

resolution of the relevant factors" in an eight-part test for reasonable 

reliance "can be done in a summary judgment motion"). 

A trial court therefore "need not decide that every factor weighs 

against joint employment" in order to grant summary judgment to the 

defendants. Zheng v. Liberty Apparel Co., 355 F.3d 61,76-77 (2d Cir. 

2003) (emphasis in original). "The mere existence of some disputed fact 

will not result in the denial" of such a motion, either. Enterprise, 683 F.3d 

at 467. If, considering the facts in the light most favorable to the 

plaintiffs, the factors on balance establish that the defendants are not joint 

employers, then the "defendants are still entitled to judgment as a matter 

oflaw." Zheng, 355 F.3d at 76. 

That is why there are many federal joint employment cases 

granting summary judgment-and nearly all of them have at least some 

factors favoring the party opposing the motion. See, e.g., Moreau, 356 

F.3d at 952-53 (affirming summary judgment for defendant despite some 

factors that favored a finding of joint employment, because they did "not 

outweigh the numerous significant factors ... which weigh heavily against 
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finding a joint employer relationship"); Zhao v. Bebe Stores, Inc., 247 F. 

Supp. 2d 1154, 1159 (C.D. Cal. 2003) ("While both sides can find support 

for their respective position with reference to the factors set forth in the 

controlling case law, the Court concludes, on balance, that [defendant] is 

not ajoint employer"); Grenawalt, 2013 WL 1311165, at *14 (summary 

judgment for defendant where "[flew factors weigh conclusively in favor 

of joint employment," and on balance the factors weighed against it). 

Here, the Court of Appeals repeatedly stressed the need to consider 

all relevant factors and "the circumstances of the whole activity." App. 1-

2, 11, 16, 19. It then failed to follow its own directive. Instead, it focused 

almost exclusively on the factors allegedly favoring Plaintiffs-or about 

which there allegedly are issues of fact as to whether they favor 

Plaintiffs-then declared those factors sufficient to defeat summary 

judgment. See App. 21-22 (reversing summary judgment for Fred Meyer 

because one factor favored joint employment and there were allegedly 

issues of fact as to two other factors); id. at 29-32 (reversing summary 

judgment for Expert because two non-regulatory factors favored Plaintiffs 

and there were allegedly issues of fact as to three other factors). 

The Court of Appeals ignored all of the factors that favor Expert 

and Fred Meyer. Thus, it glossed over or failed to mention the undisputed

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