RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 15, 2013, 12:42 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89534-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAROLINA BECERRA BECERRA, JULIO CESAR MARTINEZ MARTINEZ, ORLANDO VENTURA REYES, ALMA A. BECERRA, and ADELENE MENDOZA SOLORIO,

Respondents,

V.

EXPERT JANITORIAL, LLC, dba Expert JMS, and FRED MEYER STORES, INC.,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO FRED MEYER STORES, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM RUTZICK, WSBA #11533 SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER

> 810 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-8000 Counsel for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT

- A. The Court Of Appeals Appropriately Surveyed And Applied FLSA Case Law And Anfinson, Finding Sufficient Material Disputes Of Fact To Preclude Summary Judgment.
 - 1. The Court Properly Set Forth the FLSA/MWA "Economic Reality" Analysis For Resolving Joint Employer Disputes.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Fred Meyer and plaintiffs that the FLSA "economic reality" authority provides useful guidance in apply the "joint employer" test under the MWA. E.g., Slip Op. at 1 – 2 & n. 1. The Court of Appeals expressly adopted the "economic reality" test, noting the similarities between the MWA and FLSA and citing *Anfinson*. *Id.* at 6-7. It relied on cases starting with the "seminal" case of *Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb*, 331 U.S. 722, 730 67 S.Ct. 1473, 91 L.Ed. 1772 (1947), and continuing with United States Court of Appeals authority for the propositions that "economic reality" is the touchstone and that multifactor tests (in their various formulations) are non-exclusive. Slip Op. at 1-2, n. 1, 9-16 & nn. 25-58. 15

¹⁵ This Court in *Anfinson* explained that because the Washington Minimum Wage Act ("MWA") was adopted from the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") in 1959, the Legislature intended to adopt the federal construction of the FLSA as of 1959:

The legislature's nearly verbatim adoption in the MWA of the FLSA language with respect to the definition of "employee" evidences legislative intent to adopt the federal standards in effect at the time.

In re Heidari, 174 Wn.2d 288, 298, 274 P.3d 366 (2012) (emphasis added). That means that the pre-1959 FLSA Supreme Court interpretation of joint employment in *Rutherford* is more significant on this issue for purposes of the MWA then <u>post-1959</u> federal opinions.

Essentially, Fred Meyer is asking this Court to accept review to review a detailed factual record in order to determine whether there are disputes of fact in this particular case. It attempts to buttress its petition by mischaracterizing the Court of Appeal's opinion and the record and making inferences – reasonable and unreasonable – in its favor.

2. The Court Of Appeals Applied The Economic Reality Test In This Summary Judgment Motion Consistently With Washington Summary Judgment Law And With Summary Judgments Under The FLSA.

The Court of Appeals' decision appropriately relied on MWA and FLSA authority in deciding this summary judgment. *See, e.g.,* Slip Op., pp. 5-8. The Court well supported its holding that:

There are genuine issues of material fact regarding the existence and degree of some of the relevant economic reality factors determinative of joint employment that should have precluded the trial court's dismissal."

Id. at 5. After citing cases from the U.S. Supreme Court, and the Second, Third, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits as well as several district court cases (id. at 10-20) and explaining, inter alia, that no court has held that there is an exclusive list of factors (id. at 10-11), the Court of Appeals indicated that it had considered all of the various factors, e.g.,

While they conceded that Fred Meyer did not maintain the janitors' employment records, they argue that there were genuine issues of material fact with respect to all other factors. We substantially agree.

Id. at 21 (emphasis added).

The opinion goes on to specifically discuss the following factors regarding the janitors: Fred Meyer's "supervisorial control of their work;" its "control of their employment conditions;" the janitors use of Fred Meyer "premises and equipment" (*id* at 21-23); "firing or modifying the janitors' employment;" "permanence of the janitors' employment;" "whether the janitors' work required initiative, judgment or foresight" (*id*. at 23-24); and whether:

[T]he evidence presented by the janitors supports their assertion that the system of employment adopted here is a "subterfuge or sham structure [meant] to avoid FLSA obligations."

(id. at 25), or was a "legitimate type of subcontracting arrangement." Id. at 29.

While Fred Meyer cites *Moreau v. Air France*, 356 F.3d 942 (9th Cir. 2004) for the proposition that the ultimate question of joint employment "is a legal question," the Court of Appeals in *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground*, 159 Wn. App. 35, 72, 244 P.3d 32 (2010), citing both Washington and FLSA cases, properly held that "[w]here the facts are disputed, the determination of employment status is properly a question for the trier of facts." (Footnote omitted.) Even though as discussed above, the Court of Appeals stated it considered all the factors included in Fred Meyer's joint employment status, and discussed them extensively at pages 21-29 of the Slip Opinion, Fred Meyer argues that it did not explicitly discuss and weigh every factor. Pet., p. 9. However, there is no

rule that it is not good enough for appellate courts to state that it has considered all of the factors and specifically and extensively discuss many, but not all, of the factors in a multi-factor test (see, e.g., Stewart v. Estate of Steiner, 122 Wn. App. 258, 274, 93 P.3d 919 (2004), Jackvony v. RIHT Financial Corp., 873 F.2d 411, 416-17 (1st Cir. 1989)), where the Court discussed "some, but not all, factors."

3. Fred Meyer's Criticisms Regarding The "Supervision" And "Control" Factors Misread The Court's Opinion And The Record.

Fred Meyer's Petition, at 10-12, sharply criticizes the Court of Appeals and argues that "no federal case holds that 'coming close' to supervision is the same as supervising. Slip Op., p. 22." Fred Meyer ignores the court's flat statement at page 22 that the janitors "were supervised by Fred Meyer employees" and mischaracterized the statement it purports to quote, which actually was "Fred Meyer was the organization that came closest to supervising the janitors on a day-to-day basis." Slip. Op. at 22 (emphasis added). Fred Meyer's Schedule A required janitors to perform 66 daily tasks, and Fred Meyer did a daily inspection to assure compliance as a condition of janitors being able to end their shifts. The Court of Appeals summarized the record at Slip. Op., pp. 25-26 and conservatively concluded "it is a genuine issue of material fact whether the janitors were, in the end, supervised by Fred Meyer." *Id.* Furthermore, plaintiff's expert, Ezzo, opined that sole day-to-day supervision "correlates with affecting discipline." CP 1058 (¶ 13). AJ's

Chaban testified that Expert told him "there should be personnel changes as a result of dissatisfaction" with performance on Fred Meyer's part, with AJ's "practice" being to let the janitor go. CP 1242, see Slip Op., p. 24. There is ample evidence creating an issue of fact regarding Fred Meyer indirect control over both supervision and firing or modifying employment.¹⁶

4. Fred Meyer's Service Industry Case Law Discussion Misreads The Law.

Fred Meyer's analysis of "service industry" law concerning joint employment at pages 11-14 of its Petition misinterprets (a) the Court of Appeals' treatment of that law, and (b) FLSA joint employment case law.

(a) According to Fred Meyer, the Court of Appeals "state[ed] that special treatment should be given to "service-providing sectors" because they are the economy's "fasting growing.' App. 18." Pet., p. 11. That is the opposite of what the Court of Appeals actually said. The Opinion rejects the trial court's effort to narrow the focus in the service sector to the *Bonnette* factors "in part because [the trial court] felt that the other [non-Bonnette] factors applied more to 'production line' type jobs." Slip Op., p. 17 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals was not saying that

¹⁶ Fred Meyer also criticizes the Court of Appeals for concluding that Fred Meyer supplied "equipment." See Pet., pp. 4-5 and 15-16. In fact, Fred Meyer supplied each store with approximately \$2,500 per month in Schedule C chemicals, tools and equipment. Supra at n. 2. By way of contrast, AJ spent approximately \$50/month per store to supply and maintain a mechanized scrubber/waxer machine – that means 98% came from Fred Meyer and 2% came from AJ. CP 1017 & 1023-24. (Chaban estimated \$750 per month for "Equipment Replace or Repairs" at a time when AJ had 15 Fred Meyer stores).

service jobs should be given special consideration; rather, it was saying that service type jobs should be treated <u>similarly</u> to other jobs.

overwhelmingly supports" its position is also incorrect. It is incorrect in part because Fred Meyer omitted from the cases it cites at pages 12-13 of its Petition, almost every service industry case finding joint employment. Perhaps most significantly, it failed to cite *Barfield v. New York City Health and Hospitals Corp.*, 537 F.3d 132 (2d Cir. 2008), in which the Second Circuit characterized the plaintiff nurse as a service worker and held Bellevue Hospital to be a joint employer using an analysis very similar to the Court of Appeals in this case. The Court of Appeals opinion in this case repeatedly cited to *Barfield*. Slip Op., p. 11, n. 22, 19, n. 34, 25, n. 82.¹⁷ Furthermore Fred Meyer also failed to mention in this context *Schultz v. Capital Intern. Sec., Inc.*, 466 F.3d 298 (4th Cir. 2006) another

In the present case, as in Barfield, both formal and functional control are present.

¹⁷ In *Barfield*, 537 F.3d at 143, the Second Circuit well explained how different factors may be applicable in different circumstances such as whether the issue involves "formal control" or "functional control":

From this precedent, we conclude that the various factors relied upon by this court (1) to examine the degree of formal control exercised over a worker, see Carter v. Dutchess Cmty. Coll., 735 F.2d at 12; (2) to distinguish between independent contractors and employees, see Brock v. Superior Care, Inc., 840 F.2d at 1058–59; and (3) to assess whether an entity that lacked formal control nevertheless exercised functional control over a worker, see Zheng v. Liberty Apparel Co., 355 F.3d at 72, state no rigid rule for the identification of an FLSA employer. To the contrary, as we noted in Zheng, they provide "a nonexclusive and overlapping set of factors" to ensure that the economic realities test mandated by the Supreme Court is sufficiently comprehensive and flexible to give proper effect to the broad language of the FLSA. Id. at 75-76. With this in mind, we turn to the facts of the case before us.

service industry case involving security personnel, which also found joint employment.¹⁸

Much of Fred Meyer's discussion of the cases it does cite at pages 12-13 of its Petition is also wrong. For example, Fred Meyer criticizes the Court of Appeals for not mentioning *Itzep v. Target Corp.*, 543 F. Supp. 2d 646 (W.D. Texas 2008) which, according to Fred Meyer is a "janitorial contracting" case with "highly relevant analysis." Pet., p. 12. However, the Court of Appeals quoted from *Itzep* at page 11 of its opinion relating to its conclusion that "any one list of factors is not exclusive, but rather "depends upon the circumstances of the whole activity." The *Itzep* court not only denied summary judgment on joint employment but did so with much less discussion of the relevant factors than does the Court of Appeals in this case. *See* 543 F. Supp. 2d at 655. *Itzep* thus directly supports the Court of Appeals' decision here.

Fred Meyer also repeatedly cites *Quinteros v. Sparkle Cleaning, Inc.*, 532 F. Supp. 2d 762 (D. Md 2008). *See* Pet., pp. 12, 13, 18, 19. Significantly, the Court there not only granted the motion to dismiss on the basis of facts very different from those in this case, as discussed, *infra*,

¹⁸ Nor did Fred Meyer mention district court cases such as Zavala v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 393 F. Supp. 2d 295 (D.N.J. 2005) (denying motion to dismiss FLSA claim against Wal-Mart involving janitors alleging joint employment); Vega v. Contract Cleaning Maintenance, Inc., 2004 WL 2358274 (N.D. III) (denying motion to dismiss joint employment claims against UPS involving janitors); Ansoumana v. Gristede's Operating Corp., 255 F.Supp. 2d 184, 193-96 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (grocery delivery workers); and Glatt v. Fox Searchlight Pictures Inc., --- F.R.D. ---, 2013 WL 2495140 (S.D.N.Y) (interns at movie studio).

but did so after denying plaintiffs effort to submit three additional affidavits "showing the likelihood that a joint employment relationship may have existed." *Id.* at 775-76. The utility of *Quinteros* to this case is thus doubtful.¹⁹

B. The Court of Appeals Did Not Make "Numerous And Significant Errors Regarding The Trial Court Record."

None of the four errors claimed by Fred Meyer are errors of the court. Rather, Fred Meyer's claims of error are clouded by its misreading what the Court of Appeals said, misunderstanding the common definitions of words used by the Court, or misreading the record.

1. The Court of Appeals Correctly Characterized The Trial Court's Focus On The Bonnette Factors.

According to Fred Meyer "the panel is mistaken in its assertion that Judge Spearman considered only the *Bonnette* factors." Pet., p. 14.

¹⁹ Other errors by Fred Meyer in its discussion at pages 11-12 include characterizing as "service industry cases" three cases involving "cable technicians" who installed equipment in a customer's home. See, e.g., Jacobson v. Comcast Corp., 740 F. Supp. 2d 683 (D. Md. 2010), Jean-Louis v. Metropolitan Cable Communications, Inc., 838 F. Supp. 2d 111 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), Zampos v. W&E Comm., Inc., --- F. Supp. 2d ---, 2013 WL 4782152 (N.D. III. 2013). Workers installing cable equipment seem a lot more like skilled workers such as electricians than like the janitors in this case who do not speak English and require essentially no training at all for their jobs. In that same section, Fred Meyer also claims that Torres-Lopez, 111 F.3d 633 (9th Cir. 1997) was decided under the "Agricultural Protection Act (not FLSA)." Id. at n. 3. That is contrary, inter alia, to the first paragraph of the opinion in Torres-Lopez. Moreover, given that Torres-Lopez states the law in the Ninth Circuit which includes Washington, it seems odd that Fred Meyer which is also subject to the FLSA – criticizes the Court of Appeals' use of Ninth Circuit FLSA precedent. Finally, Fred Meyer complained that the Court of Appeals "failed to credit the holdings of service industry cases such as "... Grenawalt [v. AT&T Mobility LLC, --- F. Supp. 2d ---, 2013 WL 1311165 (S.D.N.Y. 2013)] ..., Jean-Louis ..., [and] Godlewska [v. HAD, 916 F. Supp. 2d 246 (E.D.N.Y. 2013)]." Since Fred Meyer never cited those cases to the Court of Appeals, it seems inappropriate to criticize the Court of Appeals for failing to "credit" them. . These cases arose in the Second Circuit and therefore are controlled by the Barfield and Zheng v. Liberty Apparel Co., 355 F.3d 61 (2d Cir. 2003) decisions addressed in the Court of Appeals' opinion.

What the Court of Appeals actually said regarding the trial court's analysis in connection with the Fred Meyer motion at page 16 was:

In its order granting Fred Meyer's motion for summary judgment, the trial court acknowledged that it <u>focused on only</u> the *Bonnette* factors, rather than also examining those enunciated in *Torres-Lopez*. (Emphasis added.)

"Focus" in this context means "4. close or narrow attention; concentration." AMERICAN HERITAGE DICTIONARY (3d Ed), p. 703. The record quoted by the Court of Appeals fairly indicates that the trial court "focused" or "concentrated" on the *Bonnette* factors. The Court also correctly concluded that the trial court's focus on the *Bonnette* factors "limit[ed] its analysis." *Id.* at 17. While the trial court mentioned other factors, the Court of Appeals fairly concluded that those factors were subordinate in the trial court's analysis and that cases such as *Rutherford*, *Barfield*, and *Torres-Lopez* were inconsistent with the trial court's focus.

2. The Record Contains Substantial Evidence That Fred Meyer Provided Equipment Used By The Janitors.

The Court of Appeals correctly stated at page 22 of the Slip Opinion that the janitors used Fred Meyer equipment. CP 1688-89 and 1350-51. Fred Meyer supplied janitors in the typical store with approximately \$2,500 per month of Schedule C cleaning supplies, including mops, dust pans, scrapers, pads, gloves, brushes and cleaners. CP 1055-56 (Ezzo ¶ 5); CP 1324 & 1350-52. The AMERICAN HERITAGE DICTIONARY (3d Ed.) at page 622, defines "equipment" as "something with which a person, an organization, or a thing is equipped." That same

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